





Digital Modelling of the Excitation and Short-Circuit Transient Characteristics of the Short-Circuit Generators

Thesis for the Degree of Master of Science

MARIAN KINČEŠ

Department of Energy and Environment Division of Electric Power Engineering CHALMERS UNIVER SITY OF TECHNOLOGY Göteborg, Sweden 2006



Title

Digital Modelling of the Excitation and Short-Circuit Transient Characteristics of the Short-Circuit Generators

Författare/Author

Marian Kinčeš

Utgivare/Publisher

Chalmers Tekniska Högskola Institutionen för elteknik 412 96 Göteborg, Sverige

Ämne/Subject

Electric Power Engineering

Examiner

Torbjörn Thiringer

Supervisor

Shankar Subramany (ABB High Power Laboratory, Ludvika)

Date

2006-02-20

Tryckt av/Printed by Chalmers tekniska högskola 412 96 GÖTEBORG

Abstract

High Power Laboratory in Ludvika has facilities for short-circuit testing of high voltage equipment like circuit breakers, disconnectors, surge arresters, transformers, switchgear cubicles, etc.; simulating the test conditions as in real power transmission network. In order to provide such an extremely high short-circuit current up to 100kA, two specially designed turbo-generators are being used with a total capacity of 4000MVA. Each of generators during the short-circuit test is excited by a separate driven exciter to provide the excitation current. "Flying excitation" method which is used to provide the right value of test current and voltage is described more in detail in Chapter 2.

The excitation system has to be properly set in order to satisfy requirements of shortcircuit testing. Therefore correct value of excitation time and an exciter voltage has to be chosen in advance to fulfil the criteria of short-circuit testing. The no-load characteristics of generators have been measured and an analysis of obtained data was made to get the needed excitation time characteristics.

The study of collected data from previous single-phase short-circuit tests showed that it is best to use the same excitation times for the operating sequences open (O), open-close-open (O-CO) and close-open (CO) in order to provide the correct shortcircuit current at interruption for a given connection of generator winding, and frequency. For operating sequence close (C) is also recommended to use the same excitation time determined in the study for whole range of short-circuit current at the generator side within the same generator winding connection, frequency and use of the generators.

The final program for calculation of excitation parameters has been developed to visualise the particular excitation time characteristics obtained from the no-load measurements as well as easily and accurately determine the right values of parameters for excitation of the generator, such as exciter voltage and generator output rms voltage, for a certain short-circuit test. Recommended excitation times can be also easily found in the program by various combinations of the input parameters like generator, frequency, winding connection and operating sequence.

Acknowledgement

Thanks to my thesis supervisor from ABB High Power Laboratory, Mr. Shankar Subramany for his guidance during the thesis work and also for giving me an opportunity to work in ABB. I also thank to Mr. Göran Hybinette for guidance and help during the no-load testing on generators. I would further like to thank all the staff members and test engineers at the High Power Laboratory for helping me understanding the testing activities and for all help during my stay in Ludvika.

I also thank my guide from Electric Power Engineering Department at Chalmers University of Technology, Associate Prof. Torbjörn Thiringer and to my family that supported me during my studies at Chalmers University of Technology. I also thank all my friends for their support and motivation.

Contents

CHAPTER 1	1
INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 2	3
TEST FACILITY AND EQUIPMENT	3
 2.1 HIGH POWER LABORATORY	3 4 5 7 7 12 13 13 13
CHAPTER 3	16
NO-LOAD MEASUREMENTS	16
 3.1 NO-LOAD TEST CIRCUIT 3.2 OBTAINING DATA FROM THE NO-LOAD MEASUREMENTS	16 17 18 <i>18</i> <i>20</i> <i>22</i> 24
CHAPTER 4	25
DATA COLLECTION AND ANALYSIS	25
 4.1 COLLECTING DATA FROM THE PREVIOUS TESTS	25 <i>26</i> <i>26</i> <i>27</i> 31 32
CHAPTER 5	34
EXCITATION PARAMETERS CALCULATION SOFTWARE	34
 5.1 MAKING A USER FRIENDLY INTERFACE 5.2 MAIN FEATURES OF THE PROGRAM 5.2.1 Recommended excitation time 5.2.1 Excitation time characteristics 	34 35 <i>35</i> <i>38</i>
CHAPTER 6	41
CONCLUSION	41
REFERENCES	42

APPEND	PPENDIX A		
MATLAE	3 CODE	43	
A.1 A.2 A.3	SAME SAMPLING TIME DIFFERENT SAMPLING TIME RMS FUNCTION		
APPEND	ИХ В	58	
RECON	IMENDED EXCITATION TIMES		

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

When lightning strikes a power transmission line, high overvoltages are generated that might cause flashovers between the phases. This can lead to short-circuit. Short-circuit might also occur when the line falls to the ground due to heavy storms or severe ice-conditions. No matter what causes short-circuit it always results in a flow of huge currents of several kA in the electrical network. The short-circuit currents impose high electromagnetical stresses on the network equipment. Therefore the high voltage equipment should be designed to withstand that high short-circuit currents without causing any damages to themselves. Hence, extensive tests are performed in the high power laboratory to verify short-circuit withstand capability before certifying.

These high short-circuit currents are simulated on the electrical transmission and distribution equipment in the high power laboratory in Ludvika. Here, short-circuit currents up to 100kA can be achieved with help of two specially designed high-power short-circuit generators. Together they can deliver power up to 4000MVA. Each of generators is driven by an electric motor supplying the mechanical and no-load losses of the generator. During the short-circuit tests, the driving motor is disconnected electrically from the network supply and the mechanical energy stored in the rotating mass supplies the short-circuit current for the short duration of the test. The excitation current for and of the generators is supplied by a separate driven exciter consisting of a motor-generator set equipped with large fly-wheel. "Flying excitation" method which is used to provide the right value of test current and voltage is described more in detail in Chapter 2. The excitation system is a complex system and need to be properly set in order to satisfy the requirements of short-circuit testing. Therefore correct value of excitation time and an exciter voltage has to be chosen in advance to fulfil the criteria of short-circuit testing.

The aim of this thesis is firstly to measure the no-load characteristics of the high power short-circuit generators that are used for short-circuit testing of high voltage equipment, mostly circuit breakers, in order to determine more accurate characteristics of excitation time and its values, such as exciter voltage and generator output rms voltage.

Secondly to make a study based on collected data from previous single-phase shortcircuit tests of high voltage equipment to study transient characteristics and to see if it is possible to generalize excitation times for the operating sequences open (O), open-close-open (O-CO), close-open (CO) and close (C) for a chosen generator winding connection, frequency and short-circuit current on the generator side.

Finally results of above two are used as the main input parameters into a new program, developed with use of the software Microsoft Visual Basic 5, in order to provide a user friendly interface, such as easier and comfortable handling and good visual approach, and to substitute very old graphs of excitation time characteristics

drawn on millimeter paper that are used nowadays for obtaining the values for excitation, such as exciter voltage and generator output rms voltage. These old characteristics for setting the values of excitation were obtained from previous tests and also do not cover wide range of excitation times and so by the new digital tool it will be more efficient and accurate to adjust values for excitation since it has been taken from real no-load measurements on generators.

This thesis is structured in six Chapters.

In Chapter 2 an overview of the High Power Laboratory in Ludvika is presented and its test facilities and equipment are described.

In Chapter 3 the no-load measurements of generators and its analyses using Matlab are discussed.

In Chapter 4 the data are collected from previous short-circuit tests to study the transient characteristics and carefully analysed to see the dependency on excitation time.

In Chapter 5 the results from previous two Chapters are programmed by Microsoft Visual Basic 5.

In Chapter 6 all of the results are summarized.

CHAPTER 2

Test Facility and Equipment

2.1 High Power Laboratory

The high power laboratory of ABB in Ludvika, Sweden, has facilities for short-circuit testing of electrical transmission and distribution equipment like circuit breakers, disconnectors, surge arresters, transformers, switchgear cubicles; simulating the test conditions as in real network. Other equipment such as thyristor modules used in HVDC systems can be also tested in the laboratory. The laboratory is engaged primarily in the testing and certification of high voltage equipment. Therefore, two specially designed high-power short-circuit generators are installed, which can achieve very high currents up to 100kA with total generating capacity of 4000MVA. The generator voltage can be stepped up to 145kV three phase, and 250kV single phase with help of low impedance transformers. Testing of some high voltage equipment requires very high short-circuit capacity of the order of 30-50GVA. It becomes economically unavailable to add additional generators in the test laboratory to achieve such high capacity. Therefore synthetic test methods have been developed and standardizes for realizing such tests.

The high power laboratory has a test facility of direct and synthetic testing. The main parameters of each testing facility are described as follows.

Direct testing:

- max. short-circuit power 4000MVA
- max. test voltage 3 φ
- max. test voltage 1 φ 250kV
- frequency
- max. test current
- duration

100kA rms 3s a63kA

 $16^{2}/_{3} - 60 \text{ Hz}$

145 kV

1s at 100kA

Synthetic testing:

- single-phase tests 525 kV, 80kA
- three-phase tests 245kV, 63kA
- main capacitor banks 3.2MJ
- two circuits ± 660kV d.c
- 4-parameter TRV, a.c. recovery voltage
- short circuit making test
- capacitive current switching tests

The premises of the high power laboratory consist of the following equipment, which are used for the short-circuit testing and are described later in this chapter in more detail.

- short-circuit generators
- exciters
- transformers
- capacitor banks
- resistors
- reactors

There are 9 test cells for high power testing and two of them are connected to the synthetic test circuit, where test with the voltages over 1000kV can be performed. All

3

the test cells are built to endure explosions and the tests are recorded by the several video cameras.

Digital control systems transmit signals through optical-fibre cables from the control room. These signals control precisely the operation of various equipment in the test circuits. To ensure a trouble-free collection of a large number of data, advanced data collecting system is used. It has a digital transient recorder with optic-fibre isolated digitizers between the control room and the test cells. A powerful computer system conditions the test signals and carries out analyses of the data. Therefore it is easy to determine whether or not the test object has satisfied the requirements according to IEC standards in just a few seconds after the test.

The ABB High Power Laboratory was accredited in 1994 by the Swedish Board for Technical Accreditation (SWEDAC) and is a member of Scandinavians Association for Testing of Electrical Power Equipment (SATS), an independent non-profit organization, and a member of the STL (Short-circuit Testing Liaison). In accordance with the requirements of these institutions, type-tests carried out on high voltage products have to satisfy the standards. The organization and facilities at the Ludvika high power laboratory have been evaluated by an independent committee, and ISO 9001 approval has been granted.

2.2 Generators

The laboratory has two short-circuit test generators. The larger synchronous generator (G1) has a nominal rating of short circuit power of 2500 MVA and a smaller one (G2) with a short-circuit rating of 1300MVA. The machine data are given below in table 2.1. Both machines are of the turbo type, which is particularly suited as a short-circuit test generator, since it enables a considerable amount of energy to be store in the high-speed rotor. The machines have been specially designed due to demand on high short-circuit withstand strength.

		G1	G2
Rated short ci	rcuit power ¹ , MVA	2 500	1 300
Rated voltage	, kV	7.5/13/15/(26) ²	4.33/7.5/8.67/15
Nominal rating	g³, MVA	180	130
Frequency, H	Z	50/60	50
Speed, r.p.m.		1 500	1 500
Number of wir	ndings per phase	2	2
No-load excita	ation current at rated voltage, kA	2.88	1.3
S.c. excitation	current at rated s.c. power, kA	22.5	8.25
Time constant	t of field windings at no-load, s	4.6	7.0
No-load	without excitation	710	390
power, KW	with excitation to rated voltage	2 240	1 300
Rotor diamete	er, mm	1 700	1 550
Driving-motor	output, MW	3.0	1.0

Table 2.1 Short-circuit test generators. G1 - the larger unit

¹ Symetrical breaking power after a short-circuit time of 0.2 s

 $^{^{2}}$ When connected to 26kV, it is only used for tests at 25 and 16 $^{2}/_{3}$ Hz

³ Continuous load carrying capacity for the conventional design of the machine type

2.2.1 Winding connections of Generator 1 (G1)

Maximum voltage across each generator winding of G1 is 7.5kV with the maximum permissible value of current 50kA, which can flow through one winding. Summary of all parameters is shown in figure 2.1 for each generator winding connection.



Figure 2.1 Generator 1 – parameters of winding connections for YS, YP, DS, DP

2.2.2 Winding connections of Generator 2 (G2)

Maximum voltage across each generator winding of G2 is 4.33kV with the maximum permissible value of current 45kA, which can flow through one winding. Summary of all parameters is shown in figure 2.2 for each generator winding connection.





2.3 Exciters

Both high power generators have their own separately driven exciter set. Their design enables to supply a considerable super-excitation during the test. The exciter set consists of a driving motor, fly-wheel and a dc generator. The second one has a compensating winding and because of the high currents, which are to be commutated it is designed with a laminated stator and a special rotor winding. The data for the two exciters are given in table 2.2.

		Set 1	Set 2
Rated voltage	, V	1 050	1 000
Rated short-ci	rcuit current for 0.2s, kA	27	9.75
Speed, r.p.m.		428	428
Max. permissi	ble peak current at short-circuit, kA	60	15
No-load excita	ation current at rated voltage, A	46	30
Continuous ou	utput, kW	6 500	3 000
No-load	without excitation	100	85
power, kW	with excitation to rated voltage	155	130
Retardation at	s.c. with rated s.c. current for 0.2s, %	9	10
Starting time,	min	5.6	1.2
Retardation tir	me, min	8	3
Stopping time	without retardation, min	38	44
Driving-motor	output, kW	3 000	1 000

Table	2.2	Exciters
-------	-----	----------

A balanced beam-relay, which senses the ratio between the voltage and the field current of the exciter, is used as a protection for any flashovers on the commutator. The relay must have a certain dead zone to prevent it from tripping during the shortcircuit tests. Despite of this, it is quite capable of tripping reliably, when a flashover occurs on the commutator. An earth fault in the main winding of the exciter is detected by the rotor protection of the generator. A separate earth-fault protection, designed using the same principle as above, is employed for the field windings of the exciter. In the events of more severe faults, the exciters are decelerated automatically.

2.4 Excitation

Excitation of the high power generators can be obtained by two different methods, in order to get the right values of the short circuit current for the testing. First, the superexcitation will be described and then the "flying excitation", which is the system that is actually being used within ABB High Power Laboratory in Ludvika. This is a very unique method how to maintain a short-circuit current for the testing and thus it will be described more in detail later on.

Super-excitation

A super excitation is required if the current is to be maintained constant while the short circuit last, since otherwise the generator will be de-magnetised due to influence of the armature reactance, thus causing the short-circuit current to decrease. This great super-excitation can be obtained with the help of a powerful exciter and can be applied to the generator field by short-circuiting a series resistor in the field circuit at the same time instant, as the generator is short-circuited.

Flying excitation

This system of flying excitation implies that the generator is short-circuited while the generator field is still rising shortly after it has been connected in. This principle is shown in figure 2.3 along with the characteristic of generator voltage during the time instant.



Figure 2.3 Principle of flying excitation

Initially (before t_0), the main exciter is excited to a certain voltage determined in advance, but it is disconnected from the generator field. At the instant t_0 the generator field switch is switched on, and the generator voltage then starts to rise, following an exponentional curve. The steepness of this increase depends on the setting of the exciter voltage. At the instant t_1 the generator voltage is assumed to have reached the value at which the test is to be performed, and the short circuit is initiated. The time $t_0 - t_1$ is normally about 0.5 - 1s. After an interval of about 0.1 - 0.2s, the short circuit is interrupted (t_2). During the period of the short circuit, the

excitation thus strives to increase the main field of the generator at the same time as the armature reaction strives to reduce it. When the system is properly set, these forces counterbalance one another and so the main field will be maintained constant throughout the duration of the short circuit test. In this way, the short-circuit current will also be constant, and so the recovery voltage immediately after the interruption will be the same as the voltage applied before the short circuit. After the instant t₂, the generator voltage would once again strive to attain its no-load value, unless special measures were taken, and would thus reach excessively high values. Just before this instant, however, the exciter field is interrupted and reversed, which means that the generator voltage rises only slightly after which it rapidly decays. The parameters of interest here are the exciter voltage and the excitation time $(t_0 - t_1)$. The higher the exciter voltage, the steeper the voltage-rise curve of the generator will be and the shorter the excitation time required for a certain generator voltage to be obtained. The setting to be selected is determined by the magnitude of the power, which is to be taken out of the generator, which means, the magnitude of the armature reaction needs to be compensated for. By knowing the machine data, a suitable setting can easily be determined in advance.

The main difference between these two methods, super-excitation versus flying excitation, is that with the series resistor in the field (super-excitation) it is possible for the generator to be excited to the desired voltage already before the test. But on the other hand, when using the flying excitation method, it is possible to avoid the losses occurring both in the generator and the series resistor.

In practice, the conditions are complicated slightly by the presence of the damping circuit of the generator. The transients in these cannot be fully compensated for by taking any measures in the field circuit, which means that the short-circuit current cannot be maintained at a fully constant value during the period of a short-circuit current, instead it will decrease during the first part of this period. If a large super-exciter is used, a certain amount of compensation can be obtained if the current is forced to increase during the latter part of the short circuit so that it reaches the initial value once again shortly before the interruption. Such a form of compensation can be achieved for the case in question without any difficulties, since the exciters are very powerfully dimensioned. This compensation is facilitated also by the fact that the generators lack any damping windings and that special measures have been taken to prevent the occurrence of eddy currents in the rotor surface.

Another reason for the dissimilarity between the conditions at making and interruption is the retardation of the machine during the short circuit. The same recovery voltage and applied voltage can only be attained by means of over-compensation, and this will cause the current to rise slightly. Over-compensation is also required during the first short-circuit period for a high-speed reclosing test to enable more or less the same condition to be obtained during the second short-circuit period. This will occur namely on a less steep part of the voltage-rise curve. It is naturally impossible to obtain fully comparable conditions during making and interruption, but by adopting suitable setting it is possible to reduce such differences to a low level and they can always be maintained within the tolerance limits stipulated in the circuit breaker standards. An example of this is shown in figure 2.4, which is an oscillogram of an open-close-open (O-CO) operating sequence on SF_6 circuit breaker.



Figure 2.4 Oscilogram of the O-CO operation on SF₆ circuit breaker.

Parallel running of the generators

The two generator sets can be run in parallel. This brings out certain problems, both due to the excitation system selected and due to the fact that the machines are not identical from the electrical or mechanical points of view.

When using flying excitation, the generators are excited for a very brief interval in conjunction with a test (total time in order of 1s). This time does not suffice, however, for synchronisation due to their large masses. It is impossible to excite the machines to their full voltage before the test, and synchronise them in this manner. The reasons for this are that the generators are not designed to run for longer duration at a full voltage and that the ordinary exciters cannot be employed, since this would prevent their use for super-excitation during the tests.

A special system shown in figure 2.5 has therefore been adopted for the synchronisation and excitation. Prior to a short-circuit test the generators are excited by the pilot exciters 3, which enables them to be excited up to a few kV. The generators have been connected in parallel on the AC side across a synchronising reactor 4 with a rating of 2 ohms per phase, and the back-up circuit breakers 7 are closed. The power transmitted in this case is sufficient to synchronise the generators and maintain them in synchronism within a few electrical degrees. The pilot exciters are disconnected just before a test is to being performed. The main exciters 2 are then switched in and flying excitation is applied. The machines do not have time to drop out of synchronism during the short time they are without voltage during the reconnection. Since the machines have slightly different excitation curves, equalising currents cannot be prevented from being generated during the excitation.



Figure 2.5 Circuit diagram for parallel running of generators

By selecting a relatively high ohmic reactor, it is possible to limit these currents to a reasonable value. The settings in the field circuits must be such that the generators will attain the same voltage and more or less the same voltage derivative at the instant when the short circuit is initiated by the high speed making switch 8 or the test circuit breaker 9.

For practical reasons, however, the same excitation time is generally used for both machines, and so it is necessary to waive slightly requirements for identical voltage derivatives. This does not have any significant influence. The larger machine has to be always correctly set. The synchronising system employed has been made partly automatic and is sufficiently rapid to enable tests to be performed at intervals of three minutes. When making high speed reclosing tests, the main exciters are connected up throughout the test and supply synchronising power also between the two short circuit periods.

During the short circuit itself the machines try to fall out of synchronism. This is due to the fact that the ratio between the short circuit power and the flywheel capacity is not the same for both machines. When the machines are directly connected in parallel to the test cell (without transformer), no synchronising power can then flow between them during the short circuit. This condition can be improved when transformers are connected and the generators are connected in parallel to their primary side. The voltage drop across the transformer reactance will then permit a certain amount of synchronising power between the machines. In the case of twophase short circuits, even better conditions will be obtained, since a certain synchronising power across the phase that is not short-circuited will always be available. In practice, however, the position is not so important, since the machines with their large masses will not have time to drop very much out of synchronism during the brief period of short circuit. A slight drop in the power must nevertheless be anticipated. Calculations have shown that the drop in power will be 10-15% when the generators are connected direct to a test cell and the full power is taken out for a period of 0.2s. When the short circuit time is 0.1s, the drop in power will be less than 1%. If the generators are connected across transformers, the maximum drop will be 2 to 3%. To conclude this experience, if the short circuit is limited to 0.1 to 0.2 s, there are no significant difficulties.

2.5 Transformers

The laboratory has two transformer banks, each consisting of six single-phase units. The transformer data are given in table 2.3. Transformer bank 1 is being used together with the larger short-circuit test generator, but from a mechanical point of view, this transformer bank can handle most of the generator connection cases. Transformer bank 2 includes older transformers, which were used previously together with the smaller generator in the old laboratory. The single-phase units have been selected for use, partly because for the transport weight and because the laboratory resources can then be better utilised for single-phase tests.

Table 2.3 Transformers

	Bank 1	Bar	nk 2	
Tupo	TTTY	EO	EO	
туре	10500	89	94	
Number of single phase units	6	3	3	
Nominal rating for 0.2s, MVA	66.7	33.3	33.3	
Short-circuit impedance, per unit	4.5	10	5	
No-load losses at rated voltage, kW, per unit	165	170	130	
Magnetising power at rated voltage, kVA, per unit	1 130	2 850	1 600	
Number of high-voltage windings per transformer unit	3	4	4	
Winding voltage, kV	24/√3	22/√3	33/√3	
Basic insulation level, kV	625	450	325	
Max. voltage, three-phase, kV	144	220		
Max. voltage, single-phase, mid-point of the	nt of the			
transformers earthed, kV			50	
Primary voltage, kV	15	8		
Short-circuit power, MVA	9 000	3 0	00	

2.6 Capacitor Banks

The laboratory has one of the world's largest capacitor banks with discharge energy of 4MJ. Two capacitor banks are situated in the laboratory at the premises for the synthetic testing of the voltage circuit. The building in which the voltage circuit stands has a floor area measuring 30 m by 60 m and a height of up to 30 m. The capacitor banks are used to store the energy for recovery voltages during short-circuit breaking tests and high frequency currents during inrush current tests. Each bank consists of 12-level stack of capacitors connected in series. The heavier of the two banks weight approximately 40t.

2.7 Reactors

Each generator is provided with a set of current-limiting reactors. The reactors are designed as concrete units without any iron core and are dimensioned for the highest current to which they are usually exposed. Reactor set for the larger generator consists of 4 units per phase. Similarly, another reactor set consists of 5 units per phase for the smaller generator.

2.8 Resistors

A set of resistors for adjusting the desired power factor is also provided for each generator. The resistor sets are designed to increase the power factor from the inherent value of the plant (approximately 0.05) to the maximum value (0.15) allowed in the circuit breaker standards. The resistors, which are built of cast-iron grids, may be adjusted in most cases in steps of 10 to 20 percent. Full short-circuit strength cannot be obtained for all connections, but they must always be connected in series with a large reactance that the power factor cannot exceed the value 0.15

2.9 Actual testing procedure

Setting the right values for the short-circuit tests as excitation time and the excitation voltage is nowadays done by long time experience from the previous short-circuit testing and there is not any mathematical model or a tool that could easily predict the exact values for different test setting that would be much more accurate and keep the short-circuit current constant during the short-circuit tests as well.

The five basic short-circuit test duties that the IEC recommends for testing the high voltage equipment simulating the various fault conditions are as follows[7].

- 10% short-circuit current (Test Duty T10)
- 30% short-circuit current (Test Duty T30)
- 60% short-circuit current (Test Duty T60)
- 100% short-circuit current, symmetrical wave shape (Test Duty T100s)
- 100% short-circuit current, asymmetrical wave shape (Test Duty T100a)

Other short-circuit tests are also used for short-circuit testing of high voltage equipment.

- 75% short-circuit current (L75)
- 90% short-circuit current (L90)
- short time withstand and peak current (STC)

All the test duties mentioned above are carried out with the rated operating sequence. Regarding to circuit breakers the IEC recommends the following two operating sequences.

• O-t-CO-t'-CO

where t = 3min for circuit breakers not intended for rapid autoreclosing t = 0.3 sec for circuit breakers intended for rapid autoreclosing t' =3min

• CO - t" -CO

where t'' = 15 sec for circuit breakers intended for rapid autoreclosing

- C represents a closing operation
- O represents an opening operation
- t represents a terminal fault

Terminal faults are the faults occurring in the immediate vicinity of the breaker involving high currents.

The next figure 2.6 shows and explain how the sequence control works when shortcircuit is applied.



Figure2.6 Principle of the sequence control

- The exciter field circuit-breaker (FC) and main circuit-breaker (MB) is set manually to the "CLOSE" position 5-10s before the start of sequence control
- The electric supply to drive motor is disconnected and then the sequence control starts as can be seen on the figure above
- The generator field circuit-breaker (FB) closes to its "CLOSE" position about 0.2 s after the start of sequence control and to the position "OPEN" after 2-3 periods and after that the current stops flowing
- The main switch (MS) closes to its "CLOSE" position 1.5 3s after the generator field circuit-breaker (FB) closes (this time is called excitation time)
- The main switch (MS) opens to its "OPEN" position about 5s (by time relay) after the main circuit-breaker (MB) breaks the circuit at current zero
- The exciter field circuit-breaker (FC) opens to its "OPEN" position 2-3 periods before the current goes to zero
- The generator decelerates its speed as most when providing STC (short-time current withstand) test with 63kAeff and 3s duration, and also when arcing test with 50kAeff under 1s is applied. The rotor speed can drop down to 1100rpm, but in this case there is no requirement to reach 1500rpm directly after the test within a certain time. In other words, it needs some time to return to its previous speed. In other cases the speed does not drop down so significantly

CHAPTER 3

No-load Measurements

3.1 No-load test circuit

Figure 3.1 shows the no-load test circuit for measurements of the no-load characteristics of the generators. Measurements have been performed on both generators, generator G1 and generator G2, with various winding connections and frequencies of 50 and 60Hz.



Figure 3.1 Test circuit of the generator no-load characteristics

The principle of performing the no-load measurements is the same as explained in Chapter 2.4 for the method of flying excitation. First, the exciter voltage is set and the main exciter is excited by the primary exciter to this voltage, but still disconnected from the generator field. The main circuit-breaker (MB) is set manually to the close position 5-10s before the start of the test. When the test is being performed, the main switch (MS) is switched on and after 5 periods the generator field breaker is switched on, and then the generator voltage starts to rise up. This voltage is measured by the voltage divider LE-A 009 between two phases. At the instant the rated voltage is reached, the main circuit breaker (MB) opens and the generator voltage drops to zero. Usually 2 periods before the main circuit breaker is switched off, the exciter field breaker (FC) is disconnected. Generator field breaker (FB) is disconnected the last, about 3 periods after the main circuit breaker is opened. This principle is maintained for every measurement.

For a low excitation voltage, it takes very long time for the generator to excite and therefore the main circuit breaker is disconnected after a certain time even if the voltage does not reach its rated value. The relay, which protects the generator, trips the main circuit breaker (MB), and this time is set to approximately 20s. On the other hand, such a long excitation time is not needed for short-circuit testing.

According to winding connections of generator 1 in Chapter 2, only 3 main winding connections are being used for short-circuit testing of frequency 50 and 60Hz. These connections are DS, YP and DP, and so 6 main tests have been done on the generator G1. The no-load tests have been performed on each winding connection depending on frequency of the generator. Winding connections DS and YS of the generator G2 are the most in use, and therefore only these two winding connections have been measured. Altogether 8 no-load measurements have been performed and recorded in the computer for the later analyses.

Each test for particular winding connection consists of various measurements depending on the value of the exciter voltage. In most 28 measurements are performed on each connection because the value of the exciter voltage is set from 70V to 610V with the step of 20V. Certain exciter voltage is set before the test for each measurement and the no-load generator output voltage up to its rated value has been recorded and transmitted with opto-electronic links and finally saved into the computer by using TeamPro software [3].

Each measurement is saved and written down on a special sheet, called oscilogram tables, provided from the laboratory under a reference number, so it is easy to handle and to look up for the data later on. Also the exciter voltage, time duration of the voltage and the generator voltage until it reaches its rated respectively highest value is written down on the oscilogram tables. Afterwards, all recorded data from the measurements are taken out and saved under an ASCII text file, which are the input data to be analyzed using Matlab.

All of the no-load tests have been performed in the laboratory while the main circuits have not been in use for the short-circuit testing of the high voltage equipment by the test engineers. Therefore, all of the measurements had to be carefully planned in advance and when the main circuits were needed for running the short-circuit tests by the test engineers, the no-load measurements on the generators had to be postponed for later on. That is why all of the no-load measurements on both generators with a different winding connections and frequency could not have been performed at once, but in a period of one month, respectively during the time the main circuits were available to use.

3.2 Obtaining data from the no-load measurements

After the no-load measurements on each generator depending on the winding connections and frequency have been performed and recorded in the computer, the recorded data are taken out and saved under an ASCII text file. The data, points with the particular sampling frequency are saved from the instant the generator field circuit breaker is switched on until the last period of the no-load characteristic. These files are the input data to be analyzed using Matlab. Table 3.1 shows the cases of the sampling time used during the each test and its corresponding values of the exciter voltage for each winding connection.

Generator		G1							G	2	
f [Hz]			50Hz			60Hz		50Hz			
Winding connection	D (15	S KV)	YP (13kV)	DP (7.5kV)	DS (15KV)	YP (13kV)	DP (7.5kV)	D (8.6)	S 6kV)	Y (15	ΊS KV)
Sampling time [µs]	100	50	50	50	50	50	50	160	40	100	40
Measure- ments with exciter voltage [V]	70-130V	150-530V	70-61 0V	70-510V	70-430V	70-530V	70-510V	70-110V	130-610V	70-150V	170-610V

Table 3.1 Sampling time for every generator winding connection

As it is observed from above table 3.1, some measurements are not measured with the exciter voltage up to 610V. This is due to very short excitation time which is lower than 1s and therefore the generator voltage rises up very fast. This gives warnings of earthing failures on the generators, which is not recommended and therefore the higher values of exciter voltages are not set and the no-load measurements are finished for the particular connection.

3.3 Analysis of data from the no-load measurements

Obtained data files in ASCII text format from the no-load measurements of every connection are analyzed using Matlab to calculate the rms voltage and to obtain the excitation time characteristics as a function of the calculated rms voltage and the exciter voltage for a certain time instant, which is called excitation time. The example of the calculation and processing the excitation time characteristics can be found in the Appendix A, which is a Matlab Code using the obtained data files with the same sampling time as well as with the different sampling time.

3.3.1 No-load characteristics

The no-load characteristics are obtained from the Matlab using the recorded data of the no-load measurements for every setting of the exciter voltage, winding connection and frequency. Time duration, which is the excitation time, is set up to 6s, and only data up to this time are analyzed for all measurements. This excitation time is enough for obtaining the excitation time characteristics. Figure 3.2 shows the no-load measurements for three different exciter voltages for a certain time instant. As it is seen the higher the exciter voltage is set the shorter time is needed to excite the generator up to its rated value. This is an example of the no-load characteristics on the generator G1 connected in YP with frequency 50Hz. The next figure 3.3 shows the no-load characteristics for different exciter voltages in a closer detail for a certain time instant. Here, can be observed more clearly that with higher exciter voltage the generator voltage rises faster at the same time instant.



Figure 3.2 No-load measurements with the exciter voltages of 170V, 190V and 210V



Figure 3.3 No-load measurements with the exciter voltages of 170V, 190V and 210V

3.3.2 RMS Calculation

The IEC power-quality measurement standard IEC 61000-4-30 [5] prescribes a very precise method for obtaining the voltage magnitude as a function of time. The first step in this procedure is to obtain the rms voltage over a window with a length exactly equal to one cycle of the power-frequency. The standard does not prescribe a method to obtain the window length, but it does state an accuracy requirement [6].

According to [6], the calculation of this "one-cycle rms voltage" is repeated every half cycle; in other words: the window is shifted one half cycle in time. This results in a discrete function with a time step equal to one half cycle of the power-system frequency. The one-cycle rms voltage calculated every half-cycle is obtained by

$$U_{rms}(n) = \sqrt{\frac{1}{N} \sum_{k=1+n\frac{N}{2}}^{(\frac{n}{2}+1)N} u(k)^2}$$
(3.1)

where N is number of samples per cycle, u(k) is the sampled voltage waveform and k = 1, 2, 3, etc. The first value is obtained over the samples (1,N), the next over the samples $(\frac{1}{2}N + 1, 1\frac{1}{2}N)$, etc [5].

The one-cycle rms voltage calculated every sample is obtained by

$$U_{rms}(n) = \sqrt{\frac{1}{N} \sum_{k=n-N+1}^{n} u(k)^2}$$
(3.2)

where N is number of samples per cycle, u(k) is the sampled voltage waveform and k = 1; 2; 3, etc.

According to [6], in some cases it may be more appropriate to use a half-cycle window to calculate the rms voltage. The half-cycle rms voltage calculated every sample is obtained by

$$U_{rms\frac{1}{2}}(n) = \sqrt{\frac{1}{N} \sum_{k=n-N+1}^{n} u(k)^2}$$
(3.3)

where N is number of samples per half-cycle, u(k) is the sampled voltage waveform and k = 1; 2; 3, etc.

Here, the one-cycle rms voltage calculated every sample (3.2) from the measured data on the generators by Matlab, is used. Figure 3.4 shows this rms voltage calculation for exciter voltage of 70V and YP winding connection of G1 with frequency 50Hz. Measured data are analysed and rms voltage is calculated for the time duration of 6s. The characteristic of rms voltage follows exponentional curve due to magnetization.



Figure 3.4 One cycle RMS voltage calculated every sample.

Rms voltages are calculated with respect on measured data for every value of the exciter voltage, starting from 70V up to 610V with the voltage step of 20V for particular winding connection. As mentioned previously, higher the exciter voltage is the less time is needed to excite the generator up to its rated voltage. Figure 3.5 shows the one-cycle rms voltage calculated every sample for exciter voltages from 70V to 170V having still values for time duration 6s.



Figure 3.5 RMS voltages for the same time length

Since all data are analysed for time duration 6s, which is called excitation time, and in order to calculate rms voltage also for the higher exciter voltages, Not a Number (NaN) values have to be assigned in Matlab for the missing data up to 6s since it takes less time to excite the generator to the rated values to obtain the result in the same manner. Therefore, figure 3.6 shows this rms voltage as the exciter voltage increases and time length for exciting the generator decreases.



Figure 3.6 RMS voltages for decreasing time length

3.3.3 Evaluation of excitation time characteristics

When all rms voltages are calculated for every exciter voltage for excitation time length of 6s, excitation time characteristics can be obtained from this result as a function of rms voltage on x-axis and excitation voltage on y-axis for every instant of excitation time. These excitation time characteristics are shown in figure 3.7.



Figure 3.7 Excitation time characteristics before fitting by the exponential equation $ax^2 + bx + c$

Left hand side of figure shows excitation curves evaluated for 0.1s to 0.9s with step dt=0.1s. Similarly, right hand side of figure 3.7 depicts excitation time characteristics with the same range as in a) and is followed by wider range of the excitation time curves with step 0.02s up to the time instant 3s. As it can be seen from figure 3.7b), the longer duration of excitation time is the less steep curve is obtained and lower excitation voltage is needed to excite the generator for the same generator output voltage. Therefore the missing values for higher excitation voltage and longer excitation times are substituted by NaN values to obtain excitation time characteristics also for longer time duration. In the next step of evaluating the right excitation time characteristics by Matlab, the NaN values are excluded from every characteristic, which contains these values and the points of every characteristic are fitted by the exponential equation $ax^2 + bx + c$ to obtain the characteristic for particular excitation time as can be seen in figure 3.8. The parameters of the exponential equation a, b and c are obtained for the range of the excitation times from 0.1s to 4s. This is adequate and accurate range of the excitation time characteristics, which are used for exciting the generator during the short-circuit testing. In most of the time the excitation times are used up to 3s, and therefore it is enough to evaluate and obtain the parameters only till 4s since longer times are never in use for the short-circuit testing of the high voltage equipment.



Figure 3.8 Excitation time characteristic for 1.62s after fitting

Next figure 3.9 shows the range of the excitation time characteristics from 0.1s to 4s and some example characteristics are taken out and depicted in figure. This is a nice example where can be clearly seen that the steeper the excitation time curve is chosen, the higher the excitation voltage is required to obtain a certain generator voltage.



Figure 3.9 Range of excitation time characteristics after fitting of exponential equation $ax^2 + bx + c$ from 0.1s up to 4s

3.4 Summary of results

For one winding connection, 125 excitation time characteristics and its relevant parameters a, b, and c are obtained by analysis in Matlab. The same process of calculation rms voltage and obtaining the correct excitation time characteristics with its parameters a, b and c is maintained for all no-load measurements of high power short-circuit generators. Altogether, 8 sets of no-load measurements have been measured, which represents 1000 characteristics to be evaluated. These parameters of each excitation time are stored in the excel file for every generator winding connection that has been measured and are as an important input values for later use by the programme being developed by Visual basic for easy and fast visualisation of any excitation time characteristic within the range of 0.1s to 4s.

CHAPTER 4

Data Collection and Analysis

In this chapter various parameters are studied and collected from the different sources of the previous single-phase short-circuit tests on the high voltage equipment in order to see the behaviour of the excitation times according to the short-circuit current on the generator side within the same operating sequence, winding connection and frequency.

4.1 Collecting data from the previous tests

Every short-circuit test of the transmission and distribution equipment is recorded in the hard disk of the computer by transmission over opto-electronic links, and the main parameters are written down in the Oscilogram tables for every single test. Such a links are excellent carriers of data as they allow trouble-free transmission and also electrically isolate the data collection system from the test circuit, which makes it immune to any disturbances.

Every Oscilogram table has a main reference number, under which is then stored in the folders in archive, so it is very easy to look up for the particular tests in the future. Usually the same reference number is used for the set of the tests required from the standards and also requested from the customer that has to be tested for a certain transmission and distribution equipment like circuit breakers.

The only possibility how to collect the data is to go through these oscilogram tables and to take out those values that are very important for the study and also to look for other parameters from the sequencer as well as certain values from the short-circuit transient characteristics. These characteristics are shown in figures 4.1, 4.2, 4.3 and 4.4 for operating sequences O, O-CO, CO and C.

Therefore, to gain all the important data from the previous single-phase short-circuit tests, the research is divided into three main parts

- Oscilogram tables
- Sequencer
- Short-circuit transient characteristics

4.1.1 Oscilogram tables

These are the parameters collected from the oscilogram tables considering singlephase short-circuit tests:

- Reference number
- Oscilogram number of the short-circuit transient characteristics
- Date of test
- Transformer ratio and the reference number of the transformer
- Generator winding connection (DS, YP, DP, YS)
- Type of generator being used (single or parallel connection of the generators)
- Frequency (50 or 60 Hz)
- Type of provided short-circuit test
 - T10
 - T30
 - T60
 - T100a
 - T100s(a) or T100s(b)
 - L75
 - L90
- Type of operating sequence (O, O-CO, CO, C)
- Excitation voltage [V]
- Breaking currents [kA]
- Recovery and applied voltages [kV]

The obtained breaking currents, recovery and applied voltages are re-calculated on the generator side with the corresponding transformer ratio of the transformer. Sometimes values of the breaking currents, recovery and applied voltages are not written in these oscilogram tables, and therefore the missing values are taken out from the short-circuit transient characteristics as explained in chapter 4.1.3 and every value is also double-checked with the obtain ones.

4.1.2 Sequencer

The BE-3200 test sequencer is a switching device with 64 channels used for executing series of pre-programmed operations in synchronization with the generator voltage. It provides precise timing for the operation of devices like switches, breakers and testing objects used for testing in the high power laboratory. The operations are transferred through the optical fibres, which assign the electrical impulses to operate the previously mentioned devices. Windows software provides control in milliseconds, cycles or degrees of phase via an optically-isolated serial port and the timing accuracy can be better than one degree.

Therefore, according to the theory of flying excitation, excitation time can be taken down from the sequences of the TeamSequence control program running on the PC as shown in table 4.1. Excitation time is one of the most important parameters to be collected for the study and later evaluation.

Table 4.1 Excitation time taken from the sequence	Table 4.1	Excitation	time	taken	from	the sec	quencer
---	-----------	------------	------	-------	------	---------	---------

Type of Sequence	Excitation Time as	Labeled in Sequencer
<i>O, O-CO</i>	Main switch close (MS) – Generator field breaker close (FB)	SS – FBT
CO, C	Test breaker close (TBC) – Generator field breaker close (FB)	TBC – FBT

SS - Snabbslutare (main switch)

FBT – Fältbrytare till (generator field breaker)

TBC – Test breaker close

Most of the time sequences in the sequencer are labeled in Swedish language and therefore table 4.1 shows these abbreviations in the last column.

Once the oscilogram numbers of every short-circuit test are obtained from the oscilogram tables, the same number is also assigned for the sequencer and so the value of excitation time can be easily obtained and taken out.

4.1.3 Short-circuit transient characteristics

Values of short-circuit currents and voltages are checked respectively obtained from the transient characteristics, if these values are missing in the oscilogram tables. Values of parameters to get from the short-circuit transient characteristics depending on operating sequence are as follows

- Breaking short-circuit current (BC), respectively making current (MC)
- Transient short-circuit current (TC)
- Recovery voltage (RV)
- Applied voltage (AV)

In this case transient current means value of the current 4 periods after closing operation, and it is significant for the operating sequences O-CO and CO. This value of transient current has to be maintain in certain margins during the short-circuit testing in order to get the right values of breaking current, which has to fulfill criteria as per IEC Standards. If the breaking current is not in the right margins, different value of excitation time and exciter voltage has to be chosen to get the right result.

All of the parameters mentioned above as well as its occurrence vary depending on the chosen operating sequence. Four operating sequences have been studied and its transient characteristics with regarding parameters are shown in following figures. In figure 4.1 is shown operating sequence open (O) with parameters of breaking current and recovery voltage. These two values are significant for this operating sequence and therefore are taken out for the later analyses. Following figure 4.2 represents operating sequence open-close-open (O-CO) with parameters of breaking currents after first and second opening and its corresponding recovery voltages as well as transient current and applied voltage. All of the mentioned parameters are carefully checked and its values are registered. From these two figures can be observed that the first opening of the operating sequence O-CO is most of the time based on the operating sequence O, since it uses roughly the same time duration.

Third important operating sequence that is used for short-circuit testing is close-open (CO), and its transient characteristics as well as parameters like applied and recovery voltage, and also transient and breaking current is shown in figure 4.3. Also all these parameters are taken down and summarized later on. Last operating sequence, which has been included in the study, is close (C) sequence, and its transient characteristic with applied voltage and corresponding making current after closing is shown in figure 4.4. In this case, the important value is called making current instead of breaking current as in previous cases, and this is the current of interest to be obtained during this operating sequence of short-circuit testing.

Typical examples of the time duration used within the operating sequences in the high power laboratory for short-circuit testing are as follows

- open (O) 80ms
- open-close-open (O-CO) 560ms
- close-open (CO) 180ms
- close (C)
 80ms

In case of operating sequence O-CO and CO, the time between closing and second opening takes approximately 7 to 8 periods. The behaviour of the short-circuit current in this period is mainly influenced by two main factors:

- instant of making
- L/R ratio

Instant of making

If the making takes place at the peak value of the voltage, the short-circuit current will have shape of symmetry, and if the making takes place at zero or close to zero value of the voltage, the short-circuit current will have asymmetrical wave shape.

L/R ratio

Shape of the short-circuit current also depends on the values of inductance and reactance in the circuit. Therefore the more inductive circuit it is the longer time is needed for the current to decay. Also the first peak of the current after closing is influenced by the subtransient reactance of the machine.



Figure 4.1 Oscilogram of the operating sequence O (open) on SF_6 circuit breaker with test current 50kA



Figure 4.2 Oscilogram of the operating sequence O-CO (open-close-open) on SF_6 circuit breaker with test current of 50kA



Figure 4.3 Oscilogram of the operating sequence CO (close-open) on SF_6 circuit breaker with test current of 50kA



Figure 4.4 Oscilogram of the operating sequence C (close) on SF_6 circuit breaker with test current of 50kA

4.2 Analyzing the collected data

All parameters collected from the three previously discussed parts are put together and typed in the table created in excel. When all fields are filled in and some parameters are re-calculated, it needs to be sorted out. Sorting runs under criteria as follows

- 1) generator usage
- 2) frequency
- 3) operating sequence
- 4) winding connection

Altogether, 300 tests have been collected from the archive within the time period of last 3 years and carefully analyzed. The number of tests collected for each possibility as well as its percentage proportion is shown in table 4.2.

Generator	G	i 1	G1//G2	Altogothor
Frequency	50Hz	60Hz	50Hz	Altogether
Number of tests	109	115	76	300
Percentage proportion	36.33%	38.33%	25.33%	100%

Table 4.2 Number of analysed tests

The huge summary table of excel file is not attached as an appendix to this thesis, since these data are confidential, but this summary is available to look in at the high power laboratory.

From this summary table can be seen that the excitation time of each operating sequence, and particular winding connection does not depend on the short-circuit current of the generator. Most of the time, each operating sequence contains wide range of the short-circuit breaking current and only one value of the excitation time is used for all variety of the type tests used within the same operating sequence, frequency and the same generator winding connection. Sometimes the excitation time differs from the other values, but this is due to different exciter voltage. As mentioned in chapter 3.3.3 the higher the exciter voltage is the shorter time is needed to obtain a certain generator voltage and vice versa. Therefore, after closer look at the transient characteristics of the particular oscilogram with two different excitation times and exciter voltages, no significant differences are observed and similar short-circuit breaking current and the shape of the transient characteristic is obtained. That is why the excitation time is generalized for the same use of frequency, winding connection and operating sequence not depending on the shortcircuit current. Later on are studied the excitation times of all three operating sequences O, O-CO and C and the conclusions are drawn in the next part of this chapter.

4.3 Recommended excitation times

After careful analyses of the collected data from previous short-circuit tests of the high voltage equipment, mainly circuit breakers, final tables with the summary of the recommended excitation times are obtained for generator G1 and for parallel connection of both generators.

Main conclusion from this study is that the excitation time does not depend on the use of operating sequences O, O-CO and CO, and therefore it is possible to use the same excitation times for all three sequences within the same generator winding connection and frequency. Nowadays, the operating sequence O (open) is using shorter excitation time to excite the short-circuit generator to the certain voltage in comparison with O-CO sequence. This time is used because of the long time experience, and also from the historical point of view, since many decades ago O-CO sequence was not in use for short-circuit testing. When it has been introduced the excitation time had to be changed for a longer duration, because operating sequence O (open) uses short excitation time due to a short time sequence (80 ms), and therefore this excitation time does not have to be chosen so carefully. But operating sequence O-CO is more complex system since it is the longest sequence from all four sequences. In general it lasts for 560ms and therefore the excitation time has to be chosen more carefully in order to maintain more or less the same applied and recovery voltages of the generator and so not to excite so rapidly fast. Also the breaking current has to be within the margins for the basic short-circuit test duties as according to the IEC standard [7]. Hence, the excitation time of the operating sequence O-CO was chosen as the basic parameter and can be also used for the other two operating sequences. Since the operating sequence O is like the first part of the sequence O-CO and so the same excitation time has to work for both operating sequences. The operating sequence CO has a shorter time duration compared to the operating sequence O-CO but the excitation time has a similar duration since in this case the excitation time is taken as the generator field circuit breaker until the test breaker closes.

These three operating sequences has been generalized and their particular excitation times are recommended for the later use of the short-circuit testing on the high voltage equipment in the high power laboratory. Similar manner is done on operating sequence C, but this sequence is generalized with the excitation time used for the particular generator winding connection and frequency.

Following table 4.1 shows these recommended excitation times for the generator G1 depending on its winding connection and the frequency being used during the test. Table also contains values of previously used excitation times for each generator winding connection, frequency and operating sequence as O, O-CO, CO, and C. Similarly table 4.2 shows recommended excitation times obtained from this study for parallel connection of generator G1 and generator G2 and frequency 50Hz.

Table 4.1 Summary of the recommended excitation times from the study for 50 and 60Hz of generator G1.

	G1DS(122)50Hz		G1YP(123)50Hz		G1DP(124)50Hz	
	Excitation time (s)		Excitation time (s)		Excitation time (s)	
	Used Now	Used before	Used Now	Used before	Used Now	Used before
0	1.62	1.12	2.14	1.12	1.74	1.12
0-CO	1.62	1.62	2.14	2.14	1.74	1.74
CO	1.62	1.60 to 1.63	2.14	2.12 to 2.23	1.74	1.74 to 1.90
С			* ⁾ 1.10	1.10 vs 1.26	1.44	1.44

*)1.26s used only for 63kA test

	G1DS(122)60Hz		G1YP(123)60Hz		G1DP(124)60Hz	
	Excitation time (s)		Excitation time (s)		Excitation time (s)	
	Used Now	Used before	Used Now	Used before	Used Now	Used before
0	1.90	1.11	2.22	1.11	1.50	0.92
0-C0	1.90	1.89 to 1.91	2.22	2.22	1.50	1.50
CO	1.90	1.90 to 2.08	2.22	2.20 to 2.34	1.50	1.84
С	1.02	1.02	1.10	1.10		

Table 4.2 Summary of the recommended excitation times from the study for parallel connection of generators.

	G1//G2 50Hz				
	DS//YS(122//221)		YP//YS(123//221)		
	Excitation time (s)		Excitation time (s)		
	Used Now	Used before	Used Now	Used before	
0	1.62	1.18			
0-C0	1.62	1.62			
CO	1.62	1.62			
С	1.16	1.16	1.13	1.13	

CHAPTER 5

Excitation parameters calculation software

5.1 Making a User Friendly Interface

The results from Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 are as main and basic input parameters in to the new program called Excitation program for single-phase tests, which has been programmed using the software Microsoft Visual Basic 5, in order to provide a user friendly interface to obtain a good visual approach. In figure 5.1 is shown the window of the program after running the file *Excitation_Program.exe*. The program is divided into two parts, based on the main parameters obtained from the results in previous two Chapters. The left hand side of the window with name of Recommended excitation time, consists of the results obtained in Chapter 4. Excitation time characteristics is the name for the right hand side of the window, where are programmed the characteristics of the excitation obtained from the no-load measurements on the high-power short-circuit generators analysed in Matlab. Both parts are as separate programs, but when the left hand side of the program is used, there is interaction in between.

Recommended Excit	ation Time	Excitation Ti	me Characteristics			
Input Data:		Select excitation	on time 0.10 💌 s	Find and Plot curve		
Test Current (kA):		Generator	Frequency	nerator Connection		
Test Voltage (kV): Transformer Ratio:		@ G1 C G2	© 50 Hz	 DS (122) YP (123) 		
Frequency (Hz):	50 💌		00112	C DP (124)		
Generator:	G1 💌					
Generator connection:	DS (122) 💌					
Operation condition:	0-open 💌					
	Search					
<u>Result:</u>						
Excitation time:	s fused by	s				
Generator Current	kA					
Generator Voltage:	kV					
Type of tests: used with above condition						
		Select generat	tor voltage: KV	Calculate Exc. Voltage	V	
		Select excitation	on voltage: 🗾 V	Calculate Gen. Voltage	KV	

Figure 5.1 Main window of the program Excitation_Program.exe

5.2 Main features of the program

Now, let's describe all the main features of the program to demonstrate its functionality and simplicity of use. First, the left hand side of the program will be described and then the excitation time characteristics, which form the right hand side of the window, will be presented.

5.2.1 Recommended excitation time

As mentioned before, these data are obtained from the study that was described in more details in Chapter 4. Just to remind, all of the recommended values are assigned for the single-phase short-circuit tests. According to figure 5.2, if selecting various possibilities from the combo box depending on frequency, generator, generator connection and operation condition it will give us the recommended value of the excitation time after clicking on the button "Search" for the selected parameters. This is the main result of the search, but besides, value of previously used excitation time during the single-phase short-circuit test will be also shown for the selected conditions. Also a list of all types of tests that has been used for the selected parameters is shown as a result of the search.

Recommended Excit	ation Time	Excitation Time Characteristics
nput Data:		Select excitation time 1.62 s Find and Plot curve
Test Current (kA):		Generator Frequency Generator Connection
Test Voltage (kV):		© DS (122)
Transformer Ratio:		G1 50 Hz C YP (123)
Frequency (Hz):	50 💌	C DP (124)
Generator:	G1 💌	
Generator connection:	DS (122) 💌	
Operation condition:	0-open 💌	
Result: Excitation time:	1.62 s 1.12	s
	(used before)	
Generator Current	KA	
Generator Voltage:	KV	
Fype of tests: ised with above condition	T60 L75 L90 T100a T100s(a)	
	T100s(b)	Select generator voltage: KV Calculate Exc. Voltage V
		Select excitation voltage: V Calculate Gen. Voltage kV

Figure 5.2 Main window of the program Excitation_Program.exe after clicking on the button "Search" from the left hand side of the window to search for recommended values of the excitation time for desired parameters chosen above the button

Next figure 5.3 shows the result after we input the values of test current, test voltage and transformer ratio. The only thing that changes after clicking on "Search" button is the recalculated generator current and voltage. We can say that this is a simple calculator that gives us values of generator current and voltage. After the generator voltage is calculated it also simply put this value to the right hand side of the program at the text box "Select generator voltage" for easier and faster calculation of excitation voltage from the characteristics. Also the result of excitation time is connected with the combo box "Select excitation time" at the right hand side of the program to find the excitation time characteristics faster and more comfortable.

Recommended Exci	tation Time	Excitation Time Characteristics
Input Data:		Select excitation time 1.62 s Find and Plot curve
Test Current (kA):	40	Generator Frequency Generator Connection
Test Voltage (kV):	13.5	© DS (122)
Transformer Ratio:	0.925	• G1 • 50 Hz C YP (123)
Frequency (Hz):	50 💌	G2 C 60 Hz C DP (124)
Generator:	G1 •	
Generator connection:	DS (122)	
Operation condition:	0-open 💌	
Result:		
Excitation time:	1.62 S 1.12 S	
Generator Current:	37.00 kA	
Generator Voltage:	14.59 KV	
Type of tests: used with above condition	T60 L75 L90 T100a T100(a)	
	1100s(b)	Select generator voltage: 14.59 kV Calculate Exc. Voltage V
		Select excitation voltage: V Calculate Gen. Voltage kV

Figure 5.3 Main window of the program Excitation_Program.exe after clicking on the button "Search" from the left hand side of the window to search for recommended values of the excitation time for desired parameters chosen above the button and also a calculation of generator current and voltage

It is possible to choose various combinations from combo boxes to obtain the recommended value of excitation time like frequency if it is 50 or 60 Hz, generator G1 or parallel combination of G1//G2, generator winding connections depending on value of generator voltage that needs to be obtained during the short-circuit tests, and also operation conditions like O (open), O-CO, CO and C. Each value that is chosen at these combo boxes is connected to the right hand side of the program, Excitation time characteristics, under the radio buttons of generator, frequency and generator connections after the "Search" button is clicked. This connectivity is very convenient for not making mistakes and not setting up manually the parameters of generator, frequency and generator connection when finding the right curve of excitation time for the recommended times of excitation.

Figure 5.4 shows the value of excitation time as well as generator current and voltage, when generators are connected in parallel (G1//G2) after the "Search" button is clicked. Then the combo box of generator connection changes by itself to the programmed default value which is DS//YS (122//221). Current of each generator for these two parallel connections is then calculated as

$$I_{G1} = 0.6I_{test}N$$
 (5.1)

$$I_{G2} = 0.4I_{test}N \tag{5.2}$$

2) YP//YS (123//221)
$$I_{G1} = 0.67 I_{test} N$$
(5.3)

$$I_{G2} = 0.33I_{test}N$$
 (5.4)

where N is transformer ratio and I_{test} is a test current in kA after the transformer.

Recommended Exci	tation Time	Excitation Time Characteristics
nput Data:		Select excitation time 1.62 s Find and Plot curve
Test Current (kA):	40	Generator Frequency Generator Connection
Fest Voltage (kV):	25	© DS (122)
Transformer Ratio:	1.84	G1 60 Hz C YP (123)
Frequency (Hz):	50 💌	C DP (124)
Generator:	G1//G2 💌	
Generator connection:	DS//YS (122//221) 💌	
Operation condition:	0-open 💌	
Result: Excitation time:	1.62 s 1.18 s	
	(used before)	
Generator Current	44.16 kA 29.44 kA (G1) (G2)	
Generator Voltage:	13.59 KV	
Type of tests: used with above condition	L75 L90 T100a T100s(b)	
		Select generator voltage: 13.59 KV Calculate Exc. Voltage V
		Select excitation voltage: V Calculate Gen. Voltage kV

Figure 5.4 Main window of the program Excitation_Program.exe after clicking on the button "Search" from the left hand side of the window to search for recommended values of the excitation time for parallel connection of generators DS//YS (122//221) and also a calculation of generator current and voltage as shown at equations (5.1) to (5.4)

5.2.1 Excitation time characteristics

This right hand side window of the program finds and shows the correct excitation time characteristics for the recommended excitation times found in the left hand side window as well as for excitation times selected at the combo box "Select excitation time" in the range of 0.1s up to 4s. These characteristics are obtained from the noload measurements on each generator with different frequency and winding connections after analyzing the data in Matlab as described in Chapter 3. Excitation time characteristics can be shown after clicking on the button "Find and Plot curve". This plot is first made in the excel file and by using a simple command, OLE automation from Microsoft visual basic, it can be very easily connected and shown here. As shown at figure 5.5, excitation time characteristic for recommended excitation time of 1.62s is plotted after clicking on button "Calculate Exc. Voltage" as well as value of excitation voltage is calculated from the parameters of this excitation time characteristic. Value of generator voltage was calculated previously at the left hand side of the window and input in this text box to calculate excitation voltage. Here, generator voltage can be easily changed with arbitrary value in the range of selected generator winding connection to obtain value of excitation voltage, which can be then set for the exciter to excite the generator. Similarly, if inputting the value of excitation voltage, it is possible to calculate the value of generator voltage after clicking on the button "Calculate Gen. Voltage". This is shown in figure 5.6.



Figure 5.5 Main window of the program Excitation_Program.exe after clicking on the button "Calculate Exc. Voltage" on the bottom right hand side of the window to show the excitation time characteristics for recommended values of excitation time found before as well as calculate the excitation voltage from the characteristic



Figure 5.6 Main window of the program Excitation_Program.exe after clicking on the button "Calculate Gen. Voltage" on the bottom right hand side of the window to calculate the generator voltage from the particular excitation time characteristic

Also from figure 5.6 can be seen that, if the same value of the excitation voltage is selected as the one that has been calculated by "Calculate Exc. Voltage" from the selected generator voltage, the same value of generator voltage is obtained as the one selected at the beginning. This example shows that the calculation is done correctly in both directions and it is possible to calculate any values for excitation voltage and generator voltage within the range.

Excitation time characteristics can be plotted for each generator, and so if parallel connection is chosen to find the recommended values of the excitation time from the left hand side of the window, the same excitation times apply for both generators. In order to find the correct excitation time curves and the excitation voltages for both generators, it is necessary to plot the excitation time characteristics and to find the excitation voltages for each generator and its winding connections one by one. Then the obtained values of excitation voltage can be set for each exciter, which is necessary to know before making a shot-circuit test. This principle is shown in figure 5.7 and figure 5.8.



Figure 5.7 Main window of the program Excitation_Program.exe when parallel connection of the generators is chosen to find recommended excitation time in order to calculate correct excitation voltage from the excitation time characteristic for G1



Figure 5.8 Main window of the program Excitation_Program.exe when parallel connection of the generators is chosen to find recommended excitation time in order to calculate correct excitation voltage from the excitation time characteristic for G2

CHAPTER 6

Conclusion

No-load measurements on the high power short-circuit generators and an excitation time study of the short-circuit characteristics has been performed in this thesis. The results were used as main and basic input parameters into a new program called Excitation program for single-phase tests, which has been programmed with use of the software Microsoft Visual Basic 5, in order to provide a user friendly interface with a good visual approach.

From the no-load measurements on both short-circuit generators it is now possible to substitute very old and not so precise excitation time characteristics, which have been in use for many years. Large parts of the old characteristics were obtained from the previous tests by extrapolation and interpolation. Since the new measurements have been done for all cases and analysed using Matlab, the excitation time characteristics of the generators will have higher accuracy over a wider range as compared to before. Therefore the exact values of the three main parameters such as excitation voltage, generator output rms voltage and the corresponding excitation curve will be easily found with the new tool. This new tool is a user friendly program in Microsoft Visual Basic 5, where all parameters will be easy to find as a function of the various combinations of the generator's winding connection, frequency and if generator 1 or generator 2 is chosen.

Result from Chapter 4 shows that it is possible to use the same excitation times for the sequences O, O-CO, and CO of the single phase-tests for the sequencer for the same generator winding connection, frequency and use of the generators (if only one generator or both generators in parallel are being used). These excitation time values are only recommended values and should be used as a starting point for making the particular single-phase short-circuit tests of the test duties T10, T30, T60, T100a, T100s(a), T100s(b) and also for tests L75 and L90.

The study on the excitation times does not cover three-phase short-circuit tests due to the small amount of available data from previous three-phase short-circuit tests and therefore it is not feasible to make final conclusion on this issue. Lack of time and availability of test plant did not permit short-circuit testing under three-phase conditions.

Other tests such as STC (short-time current withstand test) tests are also not covered, since these are much more complicated and were excluded from the study from the beginning. Further work can be done on the same lines to cover three-phase short-circuit tests, STC and other special tests.

References

- [1] ABB internal document. The Asea High Power Laboratory at Ludvika.
- [2] ABB internal document. High Power Laboratory. Information brochure.
- [3] M. Olofsson. High power lab upgraded for R&D in the 21st century. Reprint of ABB Review, January 1998.
- [4] J. Luomi. Transient Phenomena in Electrical Machines. Chalmers University of Technology, Department of Electric Power Engineering, Göteborg, 1998.
- [5] IEC 61000-4-30. Electromagnetic Compatibility (EMC) Part 4-30: Testing and measurement techniques -Power quality measurement methods.
- [6] M.H.J. Bollen; I. Gu. Signal processing of power quality disturbances. unpublished, Chapter 8, pages 377-417.
- [7] IEC 612271-100. High Voltage Switchgear and Control Gear– Part 100: High voltage alternating current circuit breakers.
- [8] Microsoft Press. Advanced Microsoft Visual Basic 5. Microsoft programming series, 1997
- [9] OzGrid Business Applications. Excel: Find feature to find 3 matching criteria, available at http://www.ozgrid.com/VBA/advanced-find.htm, 2004
- [10] MSDN. Excel 2002 VBA programmer's reference. MSDN Digital Library at http://msdn.microsoft.com/library, Chapter 5: Using Ranges, 2001
- [11] TechTrax. Excel VBA: No experience necessary. TechTrax Library at http://pubs.logicalexpressions.com/pub009/LPMArticle.asp?ID=388, Lesson 5, 2004
- [12] Microsoft Help and Support. How to programmatically embed or link an object in a form, available at http://support.microsoft.com/kb/q114214, 2002
- [13] MrExcel Message Board Forum. Save excel sheet from VBA gives message resume.xlw, available at http://www.mrexcel.com/archive2/51100/59334.htm, Aug. 2002

Appendix A

Matlab Code

A.1 Same Sampling Time

1 % Evaluating measured data on generators 2 % 3 % by MARIAN KINCES 4 5 6 7 % Do NOT start to run the programme from the beginning because it 8 % takes too much time to calculate all the points in the RMS voltage 9 % matrice since I have very big sampling frequency and so, so many 10 % samples. I have saved the arrays in the file arrays6sEnough, so first 11 % open it in the workspace and then you can directly makes plots. Now go 12 13 % to CONTINUE. 14 %_____ 15 16 17 % SKIP THIS PART 18 19 20 ClC 21 close all 22 clear all 23 24 %%% files with dt=50us (up to 6s) 25 load U_R010_70.txt 26 M(:,1)=U_R010_70(1:120000); 27 load U_R011_90.txt 28 M(:,2)=U_R011_90(1:120000); 29 load U_R012_110.txt 30 M(:,3)=U_R012_110(1:120000); 31 load U_R013_130.txt 32 M(:,4)=U_R013_130(1:120000); 33 load U_R014_150.txt 34 M(:,5)=U_R014_150(1:120000); 35 load U_R015_170.txt M(:,6)=U_R015_170(1:120000); 36 37 %%% files with dt=50us (up to their original length and the rest is full fill with NaN - not a number up to 6s) 38 39 load U_R016_190.txt 40 size1=length(U_R016_190); 41 M_1=U_R016_190; 42 M_1(size1:120000)=NaN; 43 M(:,7)=M_1; 44 load U_R017_210.txt 45 size2=length(U_R017_210); 46 M_2=U_R017_210; 47 48 M_2(size2:120000)=NaN; 49 M(:,8)=M_2; 50 load U_R018_230.txt 51 size3=length(U_R018_230); 52 M_3=U_R018_230;

M 3(size3:120000)=NaN; 53 54 M(:,9)=M 3; load U R019 250.txt 55 size4=length(U R019 250); 56 M 4=U R019 250; 57 M_4(size4:120000)=NaN; 58 M(:,10)=M_4; 59 load U_R020_270.txt 60 size5=length(U_R020_270); 61 62 M_5=U_R020_270; M_5(size5:120000)=NaN; 63 M(:,11)=M_5; 64 load U_R021_290.txt 65 size6=length(U_R021_290); 66 M_6=U_R021_290; 67 M_6(size6:120000)=NaN; 68 M(:,12)=M_6; 69 load U_R022_310.txt 70 size7=length(U_R022_310); 71 M_7=U_R022_310; 72 M 7(size7:120000)=NaN; 73 M(:,13)=M_7; 74 load U_R023_330.txt 75 size8=length(U_R023_330); 76 77 M_8=U_R023_330; 78 M_8(size8:120000)=NaN; 79 M(:,14)=M_8; load U_R024_350.txt 80 81 size9=length(U_R024_350); M_9=U_R024_350; 82 M_9(size9:120000)=NaN; 83 84 M(:,15)=M_9; 85 load U_R025_370.txt 86 size10=length(U_R025_370); M 10=U R025 370; 87 M_10(size10:120000)=NaN; 88 89 M(:,16)=M_10; load U_R026_390.txt 90 size11=length(U_R026_390); 91 M_11=U_R026_390; 92 M_11(size11:120000)=NaN; 93 M(:,17)=M_11; 94 load U_R027_410.txt 95 size12=length(U_R027_410); 96 M_12=U_R027_410; 97 M_12(size12:120000)=NaN; 98 M(:,18)=M_12; 99 load U_R028_430.txt 100 size13=length(U_R028_430); 101 M_13=U_R028_430; 102 M_13(size13:120000)=NaN; 103 104 M(:,19)=M 13; load U_R029_450.txt 105 size14=length(U_R029_450); 106 M_14=U_R029_450; 107 M 14(size14:120000)=NaN; 108 M(:,20)=M_14; 109 load U_R030_470.txt 110 size15=length(U_R030_470); 111 M 15=U R030 470; 112 M_15(size15:120000)=NaN; 113

- 114 M(:,21)=M_15;
- 115 load U_R031_490.txt

size16=length(U R031 490); 116 M 16=U R031 490; 117 M 16(size16:120000)=NaN; 118 M(:,22)=M 16; 119 load U R032 510.txt 120 size17=length(U_R032_510); 121 M_17=U_R032_510; 122 M_17(size17:120000)=NaN; 123 124 M(:,23)=M_17; 125 load U_R033_530.txt size18=length(U_R033_530); 126 M_18=U_R033_530; 127 M_18(size18:120000)=NaN; 128 M(:,24)=M_18; 129 load U_R034_550.txt 130 size19=length(U R034 550); 131 M_19=U_R034_550; 132 M_19(size19:120000)=NaN; 133 M(:,25)=M_19; 134 load U R035 570.txt 135 size20=length(U R035 570); 136 M_20=U_R035_570; 137 M_20(size20:120000)=NaN; 138 M(:,26)=M_20; 139 load U_R036_590.txt 140 141 size21=length(U_R036_590); 142 M_21=U_R036_590; 143 M_21(size21:120000)=NaN; 144 M(:,27)=M_21; load U_R037_610.txt 145 size22=length(U_R037_610); 146 M_22=U_R037_610; 147 148 M_22(size22:120000)=NaN; 149 M(:,28)=M_22; 150 151 % Calculation of RMS voltage 152 153 154 Nfile=28; % number of files loaded 155 fsys=50; fsamp=20000; 156 dt=1/fsamp; 157 samp=fsamp/fsys; 158 len=length(M(:,28)); % change column if different total time 159 160 for ij=1:Nfile % change the number of columns 161 RMSM(:,ij)=rms(M(:,ij),samp)'; 162 End 163 t=25e-6:dt:dt*(len-1)+25e-6; 164 165 166 % You can start running the programme from here because all the other 167 % important calculation were saved into the workspace since it takes 168 % long time to calculate the RMS voltage due to too many samples 169 170 171 figure(1) 172 plot(t,RMSM(:,1),'k'),grid 173 174 xlabel('Excitation time (s)'), ylabel('Instantaneous RMS output voltage (V)'), 175 title('G1YP50Hz excited with 70V') 176

- 177
- 178 figure(21)

```
plot(t,RMSM(:,1:6)),grid
179
     xlabel('Excitation time (s)'),
180
     ylabel('Instantaneous RMS output voltage (V)'),
181
     title('G1YP50Hz excited with 70V to 170V')
182
     legend('70V','90','110','130','150', '170',2)
183
184
185
     figure(2)
     plot(t,RMSM(:,1:9)),grid
186
     xlabel('Excitation time (s)'),
187
     ylabel('Instantaneous RMS output voltage (V)'),
188
     title('G1YP50Hz excited with 70V to 230V')
189
     h_legend=legend('70V','90','110','130','150', '170','190','210','230',2);
190
     set(h_legend,'FontSize',7)
191
192
                            %no load figure
193
     figure(3)
     subplot(3,1,1)
194
     plot(t,M(:,6)),grid, xlim([1.4 2]), ylim([-15000 15000])
195
     title('No-load characteristics for different excitation voltage')
196
     %xlabel('Excitation time(s)')
197
     ylabel('No-load output voltage(V)'),
198
     legend('170V',3)
199
200
     subplot(3,1,2)
201
     %figure(31)
202
     plot(t,M(:,7)),grid,xlim([1.4 2]),ylim([-15000 15000])
203
204
     %title('No-load characteristic for excitation voltage 190V')
205
     %xlabel('Excitation time(s)')
206
     ylabel('No-load output voltage(V)'),legend('190V',3)
207
208
     subplot(3,1,3)
     %figure(32)
209
     plot(t,M(:,8)),grid,xlim([1.4 2]), ylim([-15000 15000])
210
     %title('No-load characteristic for excitation voltage 210V')
211
     xlabel('Excitation time (s)'), ylabel('No-load output voltage(V)'),
212
     legend('210V',3)
213
214
     figure(32)
                              %no load figure
215
     subplot(3,1,1)
216
     plot(t,M(:,6)),grid
217
     title('No-load characteristic for excitation voltage 170V')
218
     %xlabel('Excitation time(s)')
219
     ylabel('No-load output voltage(V)'),
220
221
222
     subplot(3,1,2)
223
     %figure(31)
     plot(t,M(:,7)),grid
224
     title('No-load characteristic for excitation voltage 190V')
225
     %xlabel('Excitation time(s)')
226
     ylabel('No-load output voltage(V)'),
227
228
229
     subplot(3,1,3)
     %figure(32)
230
231
     plot(t,M(:,8)),grid
     title('No-load characteristic for excitation voltage 210V')
232
     xlabel('Excitation time(s)'),ylabel('No-load output voltage(V)'),
233
234
235
236
     237
     % calculation of excitation time and making plots for output volt. vs Excitation Voltage
238
     239
     t_exc=0.1:0.1:0.9;
240
     Nt=t exc/dt;
     Nfile1=length(Nt);
241
```

```
% for ii=1:Nfile1
242
     % outpUall(ii,2:Nfile+1)=RMSM(Nt(1,ii),:);
243
     % end
                   %%%it says Subscript indices must either be real
244
     %positive integers or logicals
245
246
     for ii=1:Nfile1
247
         outpUall(ii,2:Nfile+1)=RMSM(round(Nt(1,ii)),:);
248
     end
249
250
     exitUall=[0,70,90,110,130,150,170,190,210,230,250,270,290,310,330,350,370,390,410,430,450,470,490,510,
251
252
             530,550,570,590,610];
253
     figure(4)
254
     plot(outpUall,exitUall,'+','MarkerSize',3),grid,
255
     title({'G1YP50Hz',' Excitation Curve of t=0.1s to 0.9s with dt=0.1s'})
256
     xlim([0, 13000]), ylim([0 650])
257
     xlabel('Instantaneous RMS output voltage (V)'),
258
     ylabel('Excitation voltage (V)')
259
260
261
     %excitation time 0.92 to 3s with dt=0.02s
262
     t_exc1_2=0.92:0.02:3;
263
     Nt1_2=t_exc1_2/dt;
264
     Nfile2=length(Nt1_2);
265
266
267
     for ik=1:Nfile2
        outpUall09_3(ik,2:Nfile+1)=RMSM(round(Nt1_2(1,ik)),:);
268
269
     end
270
271
     figure(5)
     plot(outpUall,exitUall,'+',outpUall09_3,exitUall,'+','MarkerSize',3),grid,
272
     title({'G1YP50Hz', 'Excitation Curve of t=0.1s to 3s with dt=0.1s and dt=0.02s'})
273
274
     xlim([0,14000]), ylim([0 650])
275
     xlabel('Instantaneous RMS output voltage (V)'), ylabel('Excitation voltage (V)'),
276
277
     %excitation time 3.1 to 4s with dt=0.1s
278
     t_exc2_4=3.1:0.1:4;
     Nt2_4=t_exc2_4/dt;
279
     Nfile3=length(Nt2_4);
280
     for ia=1:Nfile3
281
        outpUall3_4(ia,2:Nfile+1)=RMSM(round(Nt2_4(1,ia)),:);
282
283
     end
284
     figure(6)
285
     plot(outpUall3_4,exitUall,'+','MarkerSize',3),grid,
286
     title('Excitation Curve of t=3s to 4s with dt=0.1s')
287
     xlim([0, 14000]), ylim([0 400])
288
     xlabel('Output voltage(V)'),ylabel('Excitation voltage(V)'),
289
290
291
     figure(7)
     plot(outpUall,exitUall,'+',outpUall09_3,exitUall,'+',outpUall3_4,exitUall,'+','MarkerSize',3),grid,
292
     title('Excitation Curve of t=0.1s to 4s')
293
     xlim([0, 14000]), ylim([0 650])
294
     xlabel('Output voltage(V)'),ylabel('Excitation voltage(V)'),
295
     296
297
     %______
298
     % calculating the parameters a,b,c of quadratic equation ax^2+bx+c from
299
     % 0.1s to 0.9s with step dt=0.1s
300
     %------
301
     for m=1:9
302
303 x=outpUall(m,:)';
```

```
c excl=x(~isnan(x)); %excluding the NaN numbers from the matrix
304
    cc=c excl;
305
306 CCC=CC';
     N=length(ccc);
307
     cf = fit(ccc',exitUall(1:N)','poly2'); %fitting by polynomial of 2nd degree
308
     ft(m,:)=getfield(struct(cf),'coeffValues'); %getting coefficients (a,b,c) of the fitted curve
309
310
     end
311
     312
                                                                     _____
     % calculating the parameters a,b,c of quadratic equation ax^2+bx+c from
313
     % 0.92s to 3s with step dt=0.02s
314
     %______
315
316 for m1=1:105
317 x1=outpUall09_3(m1,:)';
318 c_excl1=x1(~isnan(x1));
319 cc1=c_excl1;
320 ccc1=cc1';
     N1=length(ccc1);
321
     cf1 = fit(ccc1',exitUall(1:N1)','poly2');
322
     ft1(m1,:)=getfield(struct(cf1),'coeffValues');
323
324
     end
325
     c2_1=outpUall09_3(36,:);
                                      %1.62s
326
     c2_1excl=c2_1(~isnan(c2_1));
327
     N=length(c2_1excl);
328
329
     figure(21)
330
     plot(c2_1excl,exitUall(1:N),'*k'),ylim([0 650]);
331
     hold on
     cf_21 = fit(c2_1excl',exitUall(1:N)','poly2'); %fitting by polynomial of 2nd degree
332
333
     h_21 = plot(cf_21,'r','fit', 0.95);
    fit_coeff=struct(cf_21);
334
     f3(1,:)=getfield(fit_coeff,'coeffValues');
335
     xlabel('Instantaneous RMS output voltage (V)'),ylabel('Excitation voltage (V)')
336
337
     title('Excitation time characteristic')
338 c2 02=outpUall09 3(1,:);
                                        %0.92s
339 c2_02excl=c2_02(~isnan(c2_02));
340 N2=length(c2_02excl);
341 plot(c2_02excl,exitUall(1:N2),'*k'),ylim([0 650]);
342 cf_202 = fit(c2_02excl',exitUall(1:N2)','poly2');
343 h_202 = plot(cf_202,'fit', 0.95);
344
345 c2_03=outpUall(1,:);
                                        %0 1s
346 c2_03excl=c2_03(~isnan(c2_03));
347 N3=length(c2_03excl);
348 plot(c2_03excl,exitUall(1:N3),'*k'),ylim([0 650]);
     cf_203 = fit(c2_03excl',exitUall(1:N3)','poly2');
349
     h_203= plot(cf_203,'fit', 0.95);
350
351
352 c2_04=outpUall(5,:);
                                        %0.5s
353
     c2_04excl=c2_04(~isnan(c2_04));
354
     N4=length(c2 04excl);
     plot(c2_04excl,exitUall(1:N4),'*k'),ylim([0 650]);
355
356
     cf_204 = fit(c2_04excl',exitUall(1:N4)','poly2');
     h_204= plot(cf_204,'fit', 0.95);
357
358
     c2_05=outpUall3_4(10,:);
                                        %4s
359
360
     c2_05excl=c2_05(~isnan(c2_05));
361
     N5=length(c2_05excl);
     plot(c2 05excl,exitUall(1:N5),'*k'),ylim([0 650]);
362
     cf_205 = fit(c2_05excl',exitUall(1:N5)','poly2');
363
    h_205= plot(cf_205,'fit', 0.95);
364
     hold off
365
```

xlabel('Instantaneous RMS output voltage (V)') 366 vlabel('Excitation voltage (V)') 367 title('Excitation time characteristic - G1YP50Hz') 368 369 %------370 % calculating the parameters a,b,c of quadratic equation ax^2+bx+c from 371 % 3.1s to 4s with step dt=0.1s 372 373 _____ 374 for m2=1:10 375 x2=outpUall3_4(m2,:)'; 376 c_excl2=x2(~isnan(x2)); 377 cc2=c_excl2; 378 ccc2=cc2'; N2=length(ccc2); 379 cf2 = fit(ccc2',exitUall(1:N2)','poly2'); 380 ft2(m2,:)=getfield(struct(cf2),'coeffValues'); 381 end 382 383 384 385 % calculating the parameters a,b,c of guadratic equation from 0.1s to 386 % 0.9s with step dt=0.1s with different method 387 388 c2_01=outpUall(1,:); 389 c2_01excl=c2_01(~isnan(c2_01)); 390 391 N=length(c2_01excl); 392 figure(201) 393 plot(c2_01excl,exitUall(1:N),'*'),ylim([0 650]); 394 hold on cf_201 = fit(c2_01excl',exitUall(1:N)','poly2'); %fitting by polynomial of 2nd degree 395 h_201 = plot(cf_201,'fit', 0.95); 396 hold off 397 398 f(1,:)=getfield(struct(cf_201),'coeffValues'); 399 400 c2 02=outpUall(2,:); 401 c2_02excl=c2_02(~isnan(c2_02)); 402 N2=length(c2_02excl); 403 figure(202) 404 plot(c2_02excl,exitUall(1:N2),'*'),ylim([0 650]); 405 hold on 406 cf_202 = fit(c2_02excl',exitUall(1:N2)','poly2'); 407 h_202 = plot(cf_202,'fit', 0.95); 408 hold off 409 f(2,:)=getfield(struct(cf_202),'coeffValues'); 410 411 c2_03=outpUall(3,:); 412 c2_03excl=c2_03(~isnan(c2_03)); 413 N3=length(c2_03excl); 414 figure(203) 415 plot(c2_03excl,exitUall(1:N3),'*'),ylim([0 650]); 416 hold on 417 cf_203 = fit(c2_03excl',exitUall(1:N3)','poly2'); 418 h_203 = plot(cf_203,'fit', 0.95); 419 hold off f(3,:)=getfield(struct(cf_203),'coeffValues'); 420 421 c2_04=outpUall(4,:); 422 423 c2_04excl=c2_04(~isnan(c2_04)); 424 N4=length(c2_04excl); 425 figure(204) plot(c2_04excl,exitUall(1:N4),'*'),ylim([0 650]); 426 427 hold on 428 cf_204 = fit(c2_04excl',exitUall(1:N4)','poly2');

```
h 204 = plot(cf 204,'fit', 0.95);
429
     hold off
430
     f(4,:)=getfield(struct(cf_204),'coeffValues');
431
432
     c2 05=outpUall(5,:);
433
     c2_05excl=c2_05(~isnan(c2_05));
434
     N5=length(c2_05excl);
435
     cf_205 = fit(c2_05excl',exitUall(1:N5)','poly2');
436
437
     f(5,:)=getfield(struct(cf_205),'coeffValues');
438
     c2_06=outpUall(6,:);
439
     c2_06excl=c2_06(~isnan(c2_06));
440
     N6=length(c2_06excl);
441
     cf_206 = fit(c2_06excl',exitUall(1:N6)','poly2');
442
     f(6,:)=getfield(struct(cf_206),'coeffValues');
443
444
     c2_07=outpUall(7,:);
445
     c2_07excl=c2_07(~isnan(c2_07));
446
     N7=length(c2_07excl);
447
     cf 207 = fit(c2 07excl',exitUall(1:N7)','poly2');
448
     f(7,:)=getfield(struct(cf_207),'coeffValues');
449
450
     c2_08=outpUall(8,:);
451
     c2_08excl=c2_08(~isnan(c2_08));
452
     N8=length(c2_08excl);
453
     cf_208 = fit(c2_08excl',exitUall(1:N8)','poly2');
454
455
     f(8,:)=getfield(struct(cf_208),'coeffValues');
456
457
     c2_09=outpUall(9,:);
     c2_09excl=c2_09(~isnan(c2_09));
458
     N9=length(c2_09excl);
459
     cf_209 = fit(c2_09excl',exitUall(1:N9)','poly2');
460
     f(9,:)=getfield(struct(cf_209),'coeffValues');
461
462
     463
     % calculating the parameters a,b,c of quadratic equation from 3.1s to
464
     % 4s with step dt=0.1s with the method above
465
     %------
466
467 c2_1=outpUall3_4(1,:);
468 c2_1excl=c2_1(~isnan(c2_1));
469 N=length(c2_1excl);
470 figure(21)
471 plot(c2_1excl,exitUall(1:N),'*'),ylim([0 400]);
472 hold on
473 cf_21 = fit(c2_1excl',exitUall(1:N)','poly2'); %fitting by polynomial of 2nd degree
474 h_21 = plot(cf_21,'fit', 0.95);
475 hold off
    fit_coeff=struct(cf_21);
476
     f3(1,:)=getfield(fit_coeff,'coeffValues');
477
478
479
     c2_2=outpUall3_4(2,:);
480
     c2_2excl=c2_2(~isnan(c2_2));
481
     N2=length(c2_2excl);
482
     figure(22)
     plot(c2_2excl,exitUall(1:N2),'*'),ylim([0 400]);
483
     hold on
484
     cf_22 = fit(c2_2excl',exitUall(1:N2)','poly2');
485
486
     h_22 = plot(cf_22,'fit', 0.95);
487
     hold off
488
     fit coeff2=struct(cf 22);
     f3(2,:)=getfield(fit_coeff2,'coeffValues');
489
```

```
c2_3=outpUall3_4(3,:);
490
     c2_3excl=c2_3(~isnan(c2_3));
491
      N3=length(c2_3excl);
492
      figure(23)
493
      plot(c2_3excl,exitUall(1:N3),'*'),ylim([0 400]);
494
495
      hold on
      cf_23 = fit(c2_3excl',exitUall(1:N3)','poly2');
496
      h_23 = plot(cf_23,'fit', 0.95);
497
498
      hold off
      fit_coeff3=struct(cf_23);
499
      f3(3,:)=getfield(fit_coeff3,'coeffValues');
500
501
      c2_4=outpUall3_4(4,:);
502
      c2_4excl=c2_4(~isnan(c2_4));
503
      N4=length(c2_4excl);
504
      figure(24)
505
      plot(c2_4excl,exitUall(1:N4),'*'),ylim([0 400]);
506
507
      hold on
      cf_24 = fit(c2_4excl',exitUall(1:N4)','poly2');
508
      h_24 = plot(cf_24,'fit', 0.95);
509
      hold off
510
      fit_coeff4=struct(cf_24);
511
      f3(4,:)=getfield(fit_coeff4,'coeffValues');
512
513
      c2_5=outpUall3_4(5,:);
514
515
      c2_5excl=c2_5(~isnan(c2_5));
516
      N5=length(c2_5excl);
      cf_25 = fit(c2_5excl',exitUall(1:N5)','poly2');
517
      f3(5,:)=getfield(struct(cf_25),'coeffValues');
518
519
     c2_6=outpUall3_4(6,:);
520
     c2_6excl=c2_6(~isnan(c2_6));
521
      N6=length(c2_6excl);
522
523
     cf_26 = fit(c2_6excl',exitUall(1:N6)','poly2');
      f3(6,:)=getfield(struct(cf_26),'coeffValues');
524
525
526 c2_7=outpUall3_4(7,:);
527 c2_7excl=c2_7(~isnan(c2_7));
528 N7=length(c2_7excl);
529 cf_27 = fit(c2_7excl',exitUall(1:N7)','poly2');
     f3(7,:)=getfield(struct(cf_27),'coeffValues');
530
531
532 c2_8=outpUall3_4(8,:);
533 c2_8excl=c2_8(~isnan(c2_8));
     N8=length(c2_8excl);
534
     cf_28 = fit(c2_8excl',exitUall(1:N8)','poly2');
535
     f3(8,:)=getfield(struct(cf_28),'coeffValues');
536
537
     c2_9=outpUall3_4(9,:);
538
539
     c2_9excl=c2_9(~isnan(c2_9));
540
     N9=length(c2_9excl);
     cf_29 = fit(c2_9excl',exitUall(1:N9)','poly2');
541
      f3(9,:)=getfield(struct(cf_29),'coeffValues');
542
543
     c2_10=outpUall3_4(10,:);
544
     c2 10excl=c2 10(~isnan(c2 10));
545
     N10=length(c2_10excl);
546
     cf_210 = fit(c2_10excl',exitUall(1:N10)','poly2');
547
548 f3(10,:)=getfield(struct(cf_210),'coeffValues');
```

A.2 Different Sampling Time

-MATLAB CODE------%============= 1 % CASE G1DS50Hz 2 3 clc 4 5 close all 6 clear all 7 8 % files with dt=100us (up to 6s) 9 10 load U_R873_60.txt 11 M(:,1)=U_R873_60(1:60000); 12 13 load U_R874_70.txt 14 M(:,2)=U_R874_70(1:60000); load U_R875_90.txt 15 M(:,3)=U_R875_90(1:60000); 16 load U_R876_110.txt 17 M(:,4)=U_R876_110(1:60000); 18 load U_R877_130.txt 19 M(:,5)=U_R877_130(1:60000); 20 21 %====== _____ 22 % files with dt=50us (up to their original length and the rest is fulfil with NaN-not a number up to 6s) 23 24 25 load U R878 150.txt 26 size1=length(U R878 150); 27 M1_1=U_R878_150; 28 M1_1(size1:120000)=NaN; 29 M1(:,1)=M1_1; load U_R879_170.txt 30 M1_2=U_R879_170(1:size1); 31 M1_2(size1:120000)=NaN; 32 M1(:,2)=M1_2; 33 load U_R880_190.txt 34 size3=length(U_R880_190); 35 M1_3=U_R880_190; 36 M1_3(size3:120000)=NaN; 37 M1(:,3)=M1_3; 38 load U R881 210.txt 39 size4=length(U R881 210); 40 M1 4=U R881 210; 41 M1_4(size4:120000)=NaN; 42 M1(:,4)=M1_4; 43 44 load U_R882_230.txt size5=length(U_R882_230); 45 46 M1_5=U_R882_230; 47 M1_5(size5:120000)=NaN; 48 M1(:,5)=M1_5; 49 load U_R883_250.txt 50 size6=length(U_R883_250); M1_6=U_R883_250; 51 M1_6(size6:120000)=NaN; 52 M1(:,6)=M1_6; 53 load U_R884_270.txt 54 size7=length(U_R884_270); 55 M1_7=U_R884_270; 56 M1_7(size7:120000)=NaN; 57 M1(:,7)=M1_7; 58 load U_R885_290.txt 59

size8=length(U R885 290); 60 61 M1_8=U_R885_290; M1_8(size8:120000)=NaN; 62 63 M1(:,8)=M1 8; load U R886 310.txt 64 size9=length(U_R886_310); 65 M1_9=U_R886_310; 66 67 M1_9(size9:120000)=NaN; 68 M1(:,9)=M1_9; 69 load U_R887_330.txt size10=length(U_R887_330); 70 M1_10=U_R887_330; 71 M1_10(size10:120000)=NaN; 72 M1(:,10)=M1_10; 73 load U_R888_350.txt 74 size11=length(U_R888_350); 75 M1_11=U_R888_350; 76 M1_11(size11:120000)=NaN; 77 M1(:,11)=M1_11; 78 load U_R889_370.txt 79 size12=length(U_R889_370); 80 M1_12=U_R889_370; 81 M1_12(size12:120000)=NaN; 82 M1(:,12)=M1_12; 83 84 load U_R890_390.txt 85 size13=length(U_R890_390); 86 M1_13=U_R890_390; 87 M1_13(size13:120000)=NaN; 88 M1(:,13)=M1_13; 89 load U_R891_410.txt size14=length(U_R891_410); 90 91 M1_14=U_R891_410; 92 M1_14(size14:120000)=NaN; 93 M1(:,14)=M1_14; load U_R892_430.txt 94 95 size15=length(U R892 430); 96 M1_15=U_R892_430; M1_15(size15:120000)=NaN; 97 M1(:,15)=M1_15; 98 load U_R893_450.txt 99 size16=length(U_R893_450); 100 M1_16=U_R893_450; 101 102 M1_16(size16:120000)=NaN; 103 M1(:,16)=M1_16; load U_R894_470.txt 104 size17=length(U_R894_470); 105 M1_17=U_R894_470; 106 M1_17(size17:120000)=NaN; 107 M1(:,17)=M1_17; 108 109 load U_R895_490.txt 110 size18=length(U_R895_490); M1 18=U R895 490; 111 M1_18(size18:120000)=NaN; 112 M1(:,18)=M1_18; 113 load U_R896_510.txt 114 size19=length(U R896 510); 115 M1_19=U_R896_510; 116 M1_19(size19:120000)=NaN; 117 118 M1(:,19)=M1_19; load U_R897_530.txt 119 size20=length(U_R897_530); 120 M1_20=U_R897_530; 121 M1_20(size20:120000)=NaN; 122

M1(:,20)=M1 20; 123 %========= 124 % Calculation of RMS voltage for M 125 126 Nfile=5; % number of files loaded 127 fsys=50; 128 fsamp=10000; 129 dt=1/fsamp; 130 131 samp=fsamp/fsys; 132 len=length(M(:,5)); % change colomn if different total time 133 for ij=1:Nfile % change the number of columns 134 RMSM(:,ij)=rms(M(:,ij),samp)'; 135 end 136 137 t=50e-6:dt:dt*(len-1)+50e-6; 138 139 140 %= % Calculation of RMS voltage for M1(different sampling time) 141 142 Nfile1=20; % number of files loaded 143 fsamp1=20000; 144 dt1=1/fsamp1; 145 samp1=fsamp1/fsys; 146 len1=length(M1(:,20)); % change column if different total time 147 148 149 for ij1=1:Nfile1 % change the number of columns 150 RMSM1(:,ij1)=rms1(M1(:,ij1),samp1)'; 151 end 152 t1=25e-6:dt1:dt1*(len1-1)+25e-6; 153 % RMSM1(41000:125000,17)=NaN; 154 155 % RMSM1(74000:125000,8)=NaN; 156 157 % You can start running the programme from here because all the other 158 % important calculation were saved into the workspace since it takes 159 % long time to calculate the RMS voltage due to too many samples 160 %______ 161 figure(1) 162 plot(t,RMSM(:,2)),grid 163 xlabel('Excitation time(s)'), 164 ylabel('Instantaneous RMS output voltage for 70 V'), 165 title('Excitation voltage 70V') 166 167 168 figure(2) plot(t1,RMSM1(:,13)),grid 169 xlabel('Excitation time(s)'), xlim([0 2]), 170 ylabel('Instantaneous RMS output voltage for 390 V'), 171 172 title('Excitation voltage 390V') 173 174 figure(3) plot(t,RMSM(:,1:5)),grid 175 xlabel('Excitation time(s)'), 176 ylabel('Instantaneous RMS output voltage for 60V to 130V'), 177 title('Excitation voltage 60V to 130V') 178 179 %no load figure 180 figure(4) plot(t1,M1(:,8)),grid,xlim([0 3]), 181 title('No-load characteristic for excitation voltage 290V') 182 xlabel('Excitation time(s)'),ylabel('No-load output voltage(V)'), 183

```
184
      185
      % calculation of excitation time and making plots for output volt. vs excitation voltage
186
      t_exc=0.1:0.1:0.9; %exc. time 0.1 to 0.9s
187
      Nt=t exc/dt;
188
189
      Nt1=t_exc/dt1;
190
      Nfile2=length(Nt);
191
      Nfile_2=length(Nt1);
192
      for ii=1:Nfile2
193
         outpUalIM(ii,2:Nfile+1)=RMSM(round(Nt(1,ii)),:);
194
      end
195
196
      for ii1=1:Nfile2
197
         outpUalIM1(ii1,1:Nfile1)=RMSM1(round(Nt1(1,ii1)),:);
198
      end
199
200
      outpUall(:,1:6)=outpUalIM;
201
      outpUall(:,7:26)=outpUalIM1;
202
203
      exitUall=[0,60,70,90,110,130,150,170,190,210,230,250,270,290,310,330,350,370,390,410,430,450,470,490,
204
205
             510, 530];
206
207
      figure(5)
      plot(outpUall,exitUall,'+','MarkerSize',3),grid,
208
      title('Excitation Curve of G1DS15kV t=0.1s to 0.9s with dt=0.1s')
209
      xlim([0 13000]), ylim([0 550])
210
211
212
      t_exc1_2=0.92:0.02:3; %exc. time 0.92 to 3s
213
214
      Nt1 2=t exc1 2/dt;
      Nt1 2 1=t exc1 2/dt1;
215
216
      Nfile3=length(Nt1 2);
217
      Nfile_3=length(Nt1_2_1);
218
      for ik=1:Nfile3
219
         outpUall09_3M(ik,2:Nfile+1)=RMSM(round(Nt1_2(1,ik)),:);
220
221
      end
222
      for ik1=1:Nfile_3
223
         outpUall09_3M1(ik1,1:Nfile1)=RMSM1(round(Nt1_2_1(1,ik1)),:);
224
225
      end
226
      outpUall09_3(:,1:6)=outpUall09_3M;
227
      outpUall09_3(:,7:26)=outpUall09_3M1;
228
229
230
      figure(6)
      plot(outpUall,exitUall,'+',outpUall09_3,exitUall,'+','MarkerSize',3),grid,
231
      title('Excitation Curve of G1DS15kV t=0.1s to 3s with dt=0.1s and dt=0.02s')
232
      xlim([0 16000]), ylim([0 550])
233
      xlabel('Output voltage(V)'),ylabel('Excitation voltage(V)'),
234
235
      t exc2 4=3.1:0.1:4; %exc. time 3.1 to 4s
236
237
      Nt2_4=t_exc2_4/dt;
      Nt2_4_1=t_exc2_4/dt1;
238
239
      Nfile4=length(Nt2 4);
240
      Nfile_4=length(Nt2_4_1);
      for ia=1:Nfile4
241
```

```
242 outpUall3_4M(ia,2:Nfile+1)=RMSM(round(Nt2_4(1,ia)),:);
```

```
end
243
244
     for ia1=1:Nfile 4
245
     outpUall3 4M1(ia1,1:Nfile1)=RMSM1(round(Nt2 4 1(1,ia1)),:);
246
247
     end
248
     outpUall3_4(:,1:6)=outpUall3_4M;
249
     outpUall3_4(:,7:26)=outpUall3_4M1;
250
251
252
     figure(7)
     plot(outpUall3_4,exitUall,'+','MarkerSize',3),grid,
253
     title('Excitation Curve of G1DS15kV t=3.1s to 4s with dt=0.1s')
254
     xlim([0 15000]), ylim([0 550])
255
     xlabel('Output voltage(V)'),ylabel('Excitation voltage(V)'),
256
257
     figure(8)
258
     plot(outpUall,exitUall,'+',outpUall09_3,exitUall,'+',outpUall3_4,exitUall,'+','MarkerSize',3),grid,
259
     title('Excitation Curve G1DS15kV of t=0.1s to 4s')
260
     xlim([0 16000]), ylim([0 550])
261
     xlabel('Output voltage(V)'),ylabel('Excitation voltage(V)')
262
263
264
     % calculating the parameters a,b,c of quadratic equation ax^2+bx+c from
265
     % 0.1s to 0.9s with step dt=0.1s
266
     267
                                                   _____
268
     for m=1:9
269
      x=outpUall(m,:)';
270
      c_excl=x(~isnan(x)); %excluding the NaN numbers from the matrix
271
      cc=c_excl;
272
      ccc=cc';
      N=length(ccc);
273
       cf = fit(ccc',exitUall(1:N)','poly2'); %fitting by polynomial of 2nd degree
274
275
       ft(m,:)=getfield(struct(cf),'coeffValues'); %getting coefficients (a,b,c) of the fitted curve
276
     end
277
     %______
278
279
     % calculating the parameters a,b,c of quadratic equation ax^2+bx+c from
280
     % 0.92s to 3s with step dt=0.02s
     %_____
281
     for m1=1:105
282
      x1=outpUall09_3(m1,:)';
283
      c_excl1=x1(~isnan(x1));
284
285
      cc1=c_excl1;
286
      ccc1=cc1';
287
       N1=length(ccc1);
       cf1 = fit(ccc1',exitUall(1:N1)','poly2');
288
       ft1(m1,:)=getfield(struct(cf1),'coeffValues');
289
290
     end
291
     %______
292
293
     % calculating the parameters a,b,c of quadratic equation ax^2+bx+c from
     % 3.1s to 4s with step dt=0.1s
294
     295
296
     for m2=1:10
       x2=outpUall3_4(m2,:)';
297
      c excl2=x2(~isnan(x2));
298
       cc2=c_excl2;
299
300
       ccc2=cc2';
301
       N2=length(ccc2);
302
       cf2 = fit(ccc2',exitUall(1:N2)','poly2');
303
       ft2(m2,:)=getfield(struct(cf2),'coeffValues');
304
     end
305
```

A.3 RMS Function

-----MATLAB CODE of RMS------

- 4 function [Urms]= rms(volt,samp)
- 5 vlen=length(volt);
- 6 samp0=samp-1;
- 7 num=vlen-samp0; %number of rms value
- 8
- 9 %calculation of rms value for each phase
- 10
- 11 u2=volt.*volt;
- 12 for kk=1:num
- 13 Urms(kk+samp0)=sqrt(sum(u2(kk:samp0+kk))/samp);
- 14 end
- 15 for ii=1:samp0
- 16 Urms(ii)=Urms(samp);
- 17 End

-----MATLAB CODE of RMS1------

- 4 function [Urms]= rms1(volt,samp1)
- 5 vlen=length(volt);
- 6 samp0=samp1-1;
- 7 num=vlen-samp0; %number of rms value
- 8
- 9 %calculation of rms value for each phase
- 10
- 11 u2=volt.*volt;
- 12 for kk=1:num
- 13 Urms(kk+samp0)=sqrt(sum(u2(kk:samp0+kk))/samp1);
- 14 end
- 15 for ii=1:samp0
- 16 Urms(ii)=Urms(samp1);
- 17 end